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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
SOUTHERN DIVISION

NATHANIEL WARD et al.,

Plaintiffs, Case No. 1:13-cv-580
V. Honorable Janet T. Neff
G. THOMPSON et al.,

Defendants.
/

OPINION

This is a civil rights action brought bwo state prisoners pursuant to 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983. The Court has granted bBthintiffs leave to procead formapauperis Under the Prison
Litigation Reform Act, BB.L. N0.104-134110STAT. 1321 (1996), the Court is required to dismiss
any prisoner action brought under federal law if theglaint is frivolous, malicious, fails to state
a claim upon which relief can be granted, or seessetary relief from a defendant immune from
such relief. 28 U.S.C. 88 1915(e)(2), 1915A; 42 U.8.0997¢(c). The Court must read Plaintiffs’
prosesecond amended complaint (docket #27) indulgeselglaines v. Kerner404 U.S. 519, 520
(1972), and accept Plaintiffs’ allegations as true, unless they are clearly irrational or wholly
incredible. Denton v. Hernandes04 U.S. 25, 33 (1992). Applyirtgese standards, Plaintiffs’
action against MTF Defendants Kitchen, Groerdraf Thompson will be dismissed with prejudice
for failure to state a claim. However, Plaffgi action against STF Defendants Daniels, Shaheen,
Sorenson, Betts and Bennett will be dismissetthomt prejudice under Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 21 for misjoinder.
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Factual Allegations

Plaintiffs Nathaniel Ward-Eland Terry Scott are presently incarcerated at the
Chippewa Correctional Facility (URF) and tentral Michigan Correctional Facility (STF),
respectively, but complain of events that occurred at STF and the West Shoreline Correctional
Facility (MTF). In theirpro sesecond amended complaint (docket #27), Plaintiffs Ward-EI and
Scott are suing the following STF DefendantssiAtant Resident Unit Supervisors (ARUS) Terri
Fighter Daniels, J. Shaheen and David Bettg] Librarian Technicians Melinda Bennett and
Marcie Sorenson (collectively, “STF Defendants”). They are also suing the following MTF
Defendants: Law Librarian Technician Ghompson, Grievance Coordinator and Hearings
Investigator James Kitchen and Busindgsinager Dave Groenhof (collectively, “MTF
Defendants”).

Plaintiff Scott first complains about a jpemisconduct ticket that he received. On
March 14, 2013, Plaintiff Sitt reviewed the major misconduct ticket and requested to meet with
MTF Hearings Investigator Kitchen. Withoutibg given “reasonable notice” or a meeting with
Kitchen, Plaintiff Scott states that his misconduct hearing was held on March 18, 2013. (2d Am.
Compl., docket #27, Page ID#321.) As a result, BfaBcott complains that Kitchen violated his
due process rights, his First Amendment rightssHMComp. LAwWS § 791.252 and the Michigan
Department of Corrections (MDOC) Employee Handbook.

Around April 9, 2013, Plaintiff Scott met with Defendant Kitchen to review a
grievance. Plaintiff Scott also questioneiticken about another grievance filed on April 1, 2013,

which was on Kitchen’s desk. Apparently, Kitchead not yet addressed that grievance. On May

Plaintiff Nathaniel Ward refers to himself as Nath&wiard-El. For purposes of this opinion, the Court will
use Ward-El to refer to this Plaintiff.
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1, 2013, Kitchen told Plaintiff Ward-El to inform Pidiiff Scott that he never received the grievance
in question. Plaintiff Scott alleges that Defendgitthen violated his due process rights by failing
to review the grievance, violated MDOC Policy Directive 02.03.100, “Employee Discipline,”
(effective Apr. 14, 2008), MDOC Policy Rictive 03.02.130, “Prisoner/Parolee Grievances,”
(effective July 9, 2007), the MDOC Employee Handbook and 18 U.S.C. § 242.

Plaintiff Ward-El then raises several claims regarding the funds in his prison trust
account. Plaintiff Ward-El alleges that MTF prisdfficials claim that h@wes a tax obligation of
$350.45 but Ward-El has never seen any court orgepof of this obligationBecause of his debt,
Plaintiff Ward-El complains that his prison accobatance is only $10 or $11. As a result, he is
not eligible for indigent status and canpotrchase over-the-counter medications, typing paper,
carbon paper, copies for legal documents, personal hair care items, personal skin care items and
dental items. Plaintiff Ward-El complains thaispin officials are violating his right to access the
courts and MDOC Policy Directive 03.03.130, Ti&umane Treatment and Living Conditions for
Prisoners,” (effective Feb. 23, 2009).

Plaintiff Ward-El also complains that MDOC Policy Directive 04.02.105, T W,
“Prisoner Funds,” (effective Jan. 1, 2010), whichhautzes prison officials to take the filing fee
from unsuccessful prisoner litigants, is an unconstitutional attempt to stop inmates from accessing
the courts. Plaintiff Ward-El further complains of the following state law violations due to the
removal of money from his prisoner trust fund accountcHMCoOMP. LAWS § 24.207(K), McH.
STATUTES ANNOTATED 8§ 3.506(107)(K), Administrative Code, Rule 791.6639, Administrative
Procedures Act of 1969, MDOC Policy Directive 01.04.110, 1 A, B, C, “Administrative Rules,

Policies & Procedures,’(effective Aug. 1, 2013), MDOC Policy Directive 03.02.130,



“Prisoner/Parolee Grievances,” (effective July 9, 2007) and the Michigan constitution. Plaintiff
Ward-El contends that the court’s order regardigfiling fee also violates state law because it is
essentially a “writ[] of garnishment’ which requires the garnishee defendant to turn over any of
Plaintiff-Appellant’s assets,” that might commo its possession. (2d Am. Compl., docket#27, Page
ID#327.)

Plaintiff Ward-El also argues that the coorders directing the MDOC to take 50%
of all the funds that he receivestil his debt of $717.00 is paidessentially a writ of garnishment
in violation of McH. ComP. LAws § 600.4012(1) and MH. CT. R.3.101(B)((1)(A)(I) & (E)(2).
Plaintiff Ward-El contends that it is an unconstitutional attempt to hinder a prisoner’s right to access
the courts. Plaintiff further complains that fwactice violates the Equal Protection Clause, the
United States Supreme Court’s holdingJames v. Strangel07 U.S. 128 (1972), 15 U.S.C.
§ 1673(a), and the Michigan constitution.

Plaintiff Ward-El complains that the cows$sentially appointed a receiver over his
wages but the procedures to appoint a receiver were not followed. Untler@dmp. LAWS
8 600.6104, Plaintiff Ward-El alleges that a motiootjce and a hearing on the motion are required
under the Fourteenth Amendment anetM C1. R.2.119(C).

As to MTF Defendant Thompson, Plafhivard-El argues that Thompson violated
his First Amendment right to access the courts by failing to copy a policy directive that Plaintiff
needed foWard v. LuckeyNo. 2:12-cv-14875 (E.D. Mich. Oct. 11, 2013). Plaintiff Ward-El
further argues that Defendarttdmpson violated his due proceggts and equal protection rights
by denying Plaintiff access to the law library. Furtlaintiff complains that Defendant Thompson

violated MDOC Policy Directive 05.03.116, 1 K, Lri$bners’ Access to the Courts,” (effective



Oct. 17, 2014), the Michigan Constitution, and fadistatutes, 18 U.S.C. § 242, 18 U.S.C. § 1509
and 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1346. Plaintiff Ward-El alseks to have Thompson prosecuted for violating
MDOC Policy Directive 03.02.130.

In their second amended complaint, Ridis Ward-El and Scott also assert
constitutional claims against STF Defendants that occurred after the filing of their original
complaint. §ee2d Am. Compl., docket #27, Page ID#33The Court will address the improper
joinder of STF Defendants in Section | below.

For relief, Plaintiff requests monetary damages and injunctive relief.

Discussion

l. Improper Joinder of Parties

Plaintiffs Scott and Ward-ElI's second amended complaint involves new claims
against STF Defendants, who allegedly viol&®éaintiff Ward-EI's constitutional rights after the
filing of Plaintiffs’ original complaint. Plaatiff Ward-EI's claims against the STF Defendants
include violating Ward-ElI's First Amendment right against retaliation and his Eighth Amendment
right against cruel and unusual punishment.

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 20(a) lintit® joinder of parties in a single lawsuit,
while Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 18(a) limite joinder of claims. Rule 20(a)(2) governs
when multiple defendants may be joined in one actifplersons . . . may be joined in one action
as defendants if: (A) any right to relief is assd against them jointly, severally, or in the
alternative with respect to or arig out of the same transaction, occurrence, or series of transactions

or occurrences; and (B) any question of law or fact common to all defendants will arise in the



action.” Rule 18(a) states: “[phrty asserting a claim . . . mayrjpas independent or alternative
claims, as many claims as it has against an opposing party.”
Where multiple parties are named, as in tlise, the analysis under Federal Rule of

Civil Procedure 20 precedes that under Federal Rule of Civil Procedurel8:

Rule 20 deals solely with joinder of parties and becomes relevant only when there

is more than one party on one or both sides of the action. It is not concerned with

joinder of claims, which is governed by Rule 18. Therefore, in actions involving

multiple defendants Rule 20 operates independently of Rule 18 . . . .

Despite the broad language of Rule 18¢&intiff may join multiple defendants in

a single action only if plaintiff asserts atkt one claim to relief against each of them

that arises out of the same transaction or occurrence and presents questions of law

or fact common to all . . .
Proctor v. Applegate661 F. Supp. 2d 743, 778 (E.D. Mich. 2009) (quoGagcia v. Munoz2008
WL 2064476, at *3 (D. N. J. May 12008) (quoting, Charles Allen Wgfnt, Arthur R. Miller, Mary
Kay Kane, 7 Federal Practice & Procedure Civil8d655)). Therefore, “a civil plaintiff may not
name more than one defendant in his origtmalmended complaint unless one claim against each
additional defendant is transactionally related to the claim against the first defendant and involves
a common question of law or factProctor, 661 F. Supp. 2d at 778. Aderal court may consider
many different factors when determining whetheil cights claims arise from the same transaction
or occurrence, including, “the time period during which the alleged acts occurred; whether the acts
[] ... are related; whether more than one act . . . is alleged; whether the same supervisors were
involved, and whether the defendants wardifferent geogfahical locations.”ld. (quoting Nali
v. Mich. Dep’t of Corrs.No. 07-10831, 2007 WL 4465247, at *3 (E.D. Mich. Dec. 18, 2007)).

In the present case, Plaintiffs assdeims against Defendants at two different

prisons, MTF and STF, and during two differéime periods. The allegations against the MTF



Defendants occurred prior to the filing ofetloriginal complaint on May 28, 2013, and the
allegations against the STF Defendardsurred after the May 28, 2013 filingSgeAm. Compl.,
docket #27, Page ID#337.) Moreover, only Plaintiff Ward-El asserted claims against the STF
Defendants in the second amended compfaits a result, the allegations against the MTF
Defendants and STF Defendants did not arise freisame transaction, occurrence, or series of
transactions or occurrences” or “include a gioesof law or fact common to all defendantSeée
FED. R.OFCiv. P.20(a)(2);see also Proctqr661 F. Supp. 2d at 778 (quotation omitted).

Moreover, Plaintiff Ward-El's attempt to join together a number of unrelated
Defendants into one action would thwart the purpose of the Prison Litigation Reform Act (PLRA),
which was to reduce the large number of frivolous prisoner lawsuits that were being filed in the
federal courts.See Riley v. Kurt861 F.3d 906, 917 (6th Cir. 2004). Under the PLRA, a prisoner
may not commence an action without prepant of the filing fee in some fornsee28 U.S.C.
8§ 1915(b)(1). The PLRA also contains a “thetekes” provision requiring the collection of the
entire filing fee after the dismissal for frivolousseetc., of three actions or appeals brought by a
prisoner proceeding in forma pauperis, unless the statutory exception is satisfied. 28 U.S.C.
§1915(g). The “three strikes” provision was alsa@empt by Congress to curb frivolous prisoner
litigation. See Wilson v. Yaklici48 F.3d 596, 603 (6th Cir. 1998).

“In light of the PLRA provisions . . . toontinue the practice of allowing joinder of
claims which are not in comphae with Rule 18 and Rule 20 [of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure] would be to defeat, or at least greditlyte, the clear interaf the fee payment and

?In its order to file a second amended complaintGbert specifically required Plaintiffs Scott and Ward-El
to include all of the Defendants that Plaintiffs Ward-El and Soittly intend to sue and a concise statement of all of
the claims that Plaintiffs Ward-El and Scjatintly intended to raise. SeeFeb. 20, 2014 Order, docket #25, Page
ID#310.)
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three-strikes provisions of the statut&Valls v. ScottNo. 2:97-cv-0393, 1998 WL 574903, at *3
(N.D. Tex. Aug. 28, 1998). Other couhiave reached similar conclusior&e Green v. Callahan,
No. 2:14-cv-11453, 2014 WL 1652335, at *3 (E.Dchli Apr. 23, 2014) (dismissing improperly
joined claims because they would thwart the PlaRA avoid the plaintifrom incurring a “strike,”

for purposes of Section 1915(gBrown v. Blaing 185 F. App’'x 166, 16&9 (3rd Cir. 2006)
(allowing an inmate to assert unrelated claamainst new defendants based on actions taken after
the filing of his original complaint would hawefeated the purpose of the three strikes provision
of PLRA); Shephard v. Edward®No. C2-01-563, 2001 WL 168114& *1 (S.D. Ohio Aug. 30,
2001) (declining to consolidate prisoner’s unrelatadous actions so as to allow him to pay one
filing fee, because it “would improperly circumveahe express language and clear intent of the
‘three strikes’ provision”);Scott v. Kelly 107 F.Supp.2d 706, 711 (E.D. Va. 2000) (denying
prisoner’s request to add new, unrelated claionan ongoing civil rights action as an improper
attempt to circumvent the PLRA's filing fee requirements and an attempt to escape the possibility
of obtaining a “strike” under thghree strikes” rule); CfProctor, 661 F.Supp.2d at 777 (refusing

to allow the joinder in a single multi-plaintiff ogplaint of a variety of claims, because “[EJach
separate claim by each plaintiff will require a partacized analysis regarding statute of limitations,
exhaustion of administrative remedies, and on the substance.”).

To allow Plaintiffs to proceed with improperly joined STF Defendants in a single
action would permit them to circumvent the PLRAling fee provisions.The Court recognizes
that misjoinder of parties is not normally sufficient to dismiss an action in its entirety, although
misjoined parties can be dismissed from the action by the C8ad.Proctagr661 F. Supp. 2d at

781 (citing FED.R.CIv.P.21) (additional citations omittedjee also Carney v. Treade&lq. 2:07-



cv-83, 2008 WL 485204, at *2 (W.D. kh. Feb. 19, 2008) (In the event of misjoinder, “the court
has two remedial options: (1) misjoined parties im@yropped ‘on such termas are just;’ or (2)
any claims against misjoined parties ‘may be sesy@and proceeded with separately.’ ”) (internal
guotation omitted).

Because Plaintiffs originally raised claims plgainst MTF Defendants and because Plaintiffs’
claims against the STF Defendants are wholly uredliat the original clans, the Court will dismiss
Plaintiffs’ claims against the STF Defendants on the basis of misjoinder.

. Failure to state a claim

A complaint may be dismisddor failure to state a claim if it fails “to give the
defendant fair notice of what the . .aioh is and the grounds upon which it rest8&ll Atl. Corp.

v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (quoti@gnley v. Gibsom355 U.S. 41, 47 (1957)). While

a complaint need not contain detailed factual atlega, a plaintiff's allegations must include more
than labels and conclusionBwombly 550 U.S. at 555Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(“Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cafisetion, supported by mere conclusory statements,
do not suffice.”). The court must determine wiegtthe complaint contains “enough facts to state
a claim to relief that is plausible on its facelwombly 550 U.S. at 570. “A claim has facial
plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual contéimat allows the court to draw the reasonable
inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alledgloial, 556 U.S. at 679. Although
the plausibility standard is not equivalent to prtbability requirement,’ . . . it asks for more than
a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfudjpal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quotingvombly

550 U.S. at 556). “[W]here the well-pleaded faisnot permit the court to infer more than the

mere possibility of misanduct, the complaint has alleged — but it has not ‘show[n] — that the
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pleader is entitled to relief.fgbal, 556 U.S. at 679 (quotingeB. R.Civ. P. 8(a)(2))see also Hill
v. Lappin 630 F.3d 468, 470-71 (6th rCi2010) (holding that th&@wombly/Igbalplausibility
standard applies to dismissals of prisoreses on initial review under 28 U.S.C. 8§88 1915A(b)(1)

and 1915(e)(2)(B)())).

To state a claim under 42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983, antifiimust allege the violation of a
right secured by the federal Constitution or land mnust show that the deprivation was committed
by a person acting under color of state |afest v. Atkins487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988pominguez v.
Corr. Med. Servs555 F.3d 543, 549 (6th Cir. 2009). Besa§ 1983 is a method for vindicating
federal rights, not a source of substantive rightdfjtthe first step iran action under § 1983 is to
identify the specific constitutional right allegedly infringedbright v. Oliver 510 U.S. 266, 271

(1994). A. Defendant Kitchen

Plaintiff Scott complains that he did meteive “reasonable notice” or a meeting with
Defendant Kitchen before his major misconduct megiin violation of his duprocess rights. (Am.
Compl., docket #27, Page ID#321)aiptiff Scott also alleges that Kitchen did not address one of
his grievances in violation of his due proceghts. Plaintiff Scott further argues that Kitchen
violated MDOC Policy Directive82.03.100 and 03.02.130, the MDOC Employee Handbook, 18

U.S.C. § 242 and his First Amendment rights.
1 Due Process - Major Misconduct

Plaintiff Scott first complains that he did not receive due process in relation to his
major misconduct conviction. A prisoner’s ability to challenge a prison misconduct conviction
depends on whether the convictions implicated amytjfinterest. In the seminal case in this area,

Wolff v. McDonnell 418 U.S. 539 (1974), the Court presed certain minimal procedural

-10 -



safeguards that prison officials must follow before depriving a prisoner of good-time credits on
account of alleged misbehavior. TWeIff Court did not create a free-floating right to process that
attaches to all prison disciplinary proceedings; rather the right to process arises only when the
prisoner faces a loss of liberty, in the fornaddnger prison sentence caused by forfeiture of good-

time credits:

It is true that the Constitution itself does not guarantee good-time credit for
satisfactory behavior while in prison. Bdre the State itself has not only provided

a statutory right to good time but also spedfthat it is to be forfeited only for
serious misbehavior. Nebraska may have the authority to create, or not, a right to a
shortened prison sentence through the actatron of credits for good behavior, and

it is true that the Due Process Clause does not require a hearing “in every
conceivable case of government impairmehprivate interest.” But the State
having created the right to good time and ftestognizing that its deprivation is a
sanction authorized for major misconduct, the prisoner’s interest has real substance
and is sufficiently embraced within Foeenth Amendment “liberty” to entitle him

to those minimum procedures appropriateler the circumstances and required by
the Due Process Clause to insure tint state-created right is not arbitrarily
abrogated.

Wolff, 418 U.S. at 557 (citations omitted).

Plaintiff Scott does not allege that Inmgjor misconduct conviction resulted in any
loss of good-time credits, nor could hehe Sixth Circuit has examined Michigan statutory law, as
it relates to the creation andrfieiture of disciplinary credifsfor prisoners convicted of crimes
occurring after April 1, 1987. hhomas v. Ehy181 F.3d 434 (6th Cir. 2007), the court determined
that loss of disciplinary credits does not necessarily affect the duration of a prisoner’s sentence.
Rather, it merely affects parole eligibility, whiokmains discretionary with the parole boaldl.

at 440. Building on this ruling, iNali v. Ekman355 F. App’x 909 (6th Cir. 2009), the court held

% For crimes committed after April 1, 1987, Michigaispners earn “disciplinary credits” under a statute that
abolished the former good-time systemicM Comp. LAwS § 800.33(5).
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that a misconduct citation in the Michigan prisgstem does not affect a prisoner’s constitutionally
protected liberty interests, because it does notsseciy affect the length of confinement. 355 F.
App’x at 912;accord, Taylor v. Lantagnd18 F. App’x 408, 412 (6th Cir. 2011)ilson v. Rapelje

No. 09-13030, 2010 WL 5491196, at * 4 (E.D. KlitNov. 24, 2010) (Report & Recommendation)
(holding that “plaintiff's disciplinary hearingd@ major misconduct sanction does not implicate the
Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clausei®pted as judgment of cou011 WL 5491196
(Jan. 4, 2011). In the absence of a demonstligetly interest, Plaintiff Scott has no due-process
claim based on the loss of disciplinary cred@ee Bell v. AnderspB01 F. App’x 459, 461-62 (6th

Cir. 2008).

Even in the absence of a protectible libémtgrest in disciplinary credits, a prisoner
may be able to raise a due-process challenge to prison misconduct convictions that result in a
significant, atypical deprivationSee Sandin v. Connds15 U.S. 472 (1995). Plaintiff Scott has
not identified any significant deprivation arisifigm his convictions. Unless a prison misconduct
conviction results in an extension of the duration of a prisoner’s sentence or some other atypical
hardship, a due-process claim failsigram v. Jewe)l94 F. App’x 271, 273 (6th Cir. 2004).
Plaintiff Scott does not allege that his convictresulted in an extension of his sentence or some

other atypical hardship, therefore, his due process claim fails.
2. Due Process - Grievance Process

Plaintiff Scott complains that Defendant Kien did not address all of his grievances.
Plaintiff Scott, however, has no due process rigffitéa prison grievance. The Sixth Circuit and
other circuit courts havheld that there is no constitutionally protected due process right to an

effective prison grievance proceduialker v. Mich. Dep’t of Corr128 F. App’'x 441, 445 (6th
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Cir. 2005);Argue v. HofmeyeBO F. App’'x 427, 430 (6th Cir. 2003)pung v. Gundyd0 F. App’x
568, 569-70 (6th Cir. 2002Farpenter v. Wilkinsojo. 99-3562, 2000 WL 190054, at *2 (6th Cir.
Feb. 7, 2000)seealso Antonelli v. SheahaB1 F.3d 1422, 1430 (7th Cir. 1998gdams v. Rice40
F.3d 72, 75 (4th Cir. 1994). Michigan law does omgate a liberty interest in the grievance
procedure SeeOlim v. Wakinekonal61 U.S. 238, 249 (198X eenan v. Marke23 F. App’x 405,
407 (6th Cir. 2001)WWynn v. WolfNo. 93-2411, 1994 WL 105907, at *1 (6th Cir. Mar. 28, 1994).
Because Plaintiff Scott has no liberty intereshamgrievance process, Defendant Kitchen’s conduct

did not deprive him of due process.

Even if Plaintiff Scott had been impropeprevented from filing a grievance, his
right of access to the courts to petition for redress of his grievances (i.e., by filing a lawsuit) cannot
be compromised by his inability to file an institutional grievan&e®, e.g., Lewis v. Casé&l8
U.S. 343, 355 (1996) (requiring actual injurgpunds v. Smitl30 U.S. 817, 821-24 (1977). The
exhaustion requirement only mandates exhaustion of available administrative renSshd42.
U.S.C. 8 1997e(a). If Plaintiff Scott were iroperly denied access to the grievance process, the
process would be rendered unavailable, and etibaugould not be a prerequisite for initiation of

a civil rights action.

For all these reasons, Plaih Scott fails to state a due process claim against

Defendant Kitchen for failing to address all of Plaintiff Scott’s grievances.
3. First Amendment

Plaintiff Scott alleges that Defendanit¢hen violated his First Amendment rights
with respect to his misconduct hearing but does not provide any allegations to support his

constitutional claim. Accordingly, Plaintiff ScattFirst Amendment claim is wholly conclusory.
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Conclusory allegations of unconstitutional conduitheut specific factual allegations fail to state
a claim under § 1983See Igbal556 U.S. at 678-69fwombly 550 U.S. at 555 Plaintiff Scott

therefore fails to state a First Amendment claim against Defendant Kitchen.
4, 18 U.S.C.§242

Plaintiff Scott alleges that Defendanté¢hen violated 18 U.S.C. 8 242, which makes
it a crime for a state official to act willfullynal under color of law to geive a person of his/her
rights protected by the Constitution. As a privateeiti Plaintiff Scott may not enforce this statute.
See Abner v. Gen. Motors03 F. App’x 563, 566 (6th Cir. 2004) (finding that a private citizen
cannot initiate a federal criminprosecution under 18 U.S.C. § 24Cpk v. Cosentind876 F.2d
1, 2 (1st Cir. 1989) (per curiam) (“Only the United States as prosecutor can bring a complaint under
18 U.S.C. 88 241-242."). Plaintiff lacks “a judityacognizable interest in the prosecution or
nonprosecution” of anothekinda R.S. v. Richard D410 U.S. 614, 619 (1973). Furthermore, the
foregoing statute does not provide for a private right of actBae United States v. Oguajyié F.
App’x 579, 581 (6th Cir. 2003) (finding that “the dist court properly dismissed [the plaintiff's]
claim pursuantto 18 U.S.C. 88 241242 because [the plaintiff] k@o private right of action under

either of these criminal statutes”). Thus, Ri#fiscott fails to state a claim under 18 U.S.C. § 242.
5. State Law

Plaintiff Scott alleges that Defendant Kin’s conduct violated Michigan statutes,
the Michigan constitution, the Michigan Employee Handbook and MDOC Policy Directives.
Claims under § 1983 can only be brought for “degtion of rights secured by the constitution and
laws of the United Statesl’ugar v. Edmondson Oil Co457 U.S. 922, 924 (1982). Section 1983

does not provide redress fovialation of a state lawPyles v. Raisqr60 F.3d 1211, 1215 (6th Cir.
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1995);Sweeton v. Browr27 F.3d 1162, 1166 (6th Cir. 1994). Plaintiffs assertion that Defendant
Kitchen violated state law therefore failssiate a claim under § 1983. Additionally, Defendant
Kitchen’s alleged failure to comply with an adnsimative rule or policy does not itself rise to the
level of a constitutional violationLaney v. Farley501 F.3d 577, 581 n.2 (6th Cir. 200B)ypdy

v. City of Mason250 F.3d 432, 437 (6th Cir. 2008ith v. Freland954 F.2d 343, 347-48 (6th
Cir. 1992);Barber v. City of Salen®53 F.2d 232, 240 (6th Cir. 199R)¢cVeigh v. BartlettNo. 94-
23347, 1995 WL 236687, at *1 (6th Cir. Apr. 21, 1998)l(ire to follow policy directive does not
rise to the level of a constitutional violatioadause policy directive does not create a protectible

liberty interest).

To the extent that Plaintiff Scott seeks to invoke this Court’'s supplemental
jurisdiction over state-law claims, the Court decliteexercise jurisdiction over Plaintiff Scott’s
state-law claims against Defendant Kitchen. In determining whether to retain supplemental
jurisdiction, “[a] district court should consideretinterests of judicial economy and the avoidance
of multiplicity of litigation and balance those intsteagainst needlessly deciding state law issues.”
Landefeld v. Marion Gen. Hosp., In€@94 F.2d 1178, 1182 (6th Cir. 1993). Ordinarily, where a
district court has exercised jurisdiction over ateslaw claim solely by virtue of supplemental
jurisdiction and the federal claims are dismissedro trial, the courvill dismiss the remaining
state-law claimsld. Dismissal, however, remains “purely discretionai@drlsbad Tech., Inc. v.

HIF Bio, Inc, 556 U.S. 635, 639 (2009) (citing 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1367@)jon v. Johnny’s Lunch
Franchise, LLC668 F.3d 843, 850 (6th Cir. 2012). Here liakance of the relevant considerations
weighs against the continued exercise of supetdal jurisdiction. Accordingly, Plaintiff Scott’s

state-law claims against Defendant Kitchen will be dismissed without prejudice.

-15 -



B. Defendant Groenhof

Plaintiff Ward-El claims that he wagrongly assessed a tax obligation without a
court order in violation of his due process rghtPlaintiff Ward-El also complains that the
imposition of filing fees from unsuccessful ligation violates his constitutional rights. Finally,

Plaintiff Ward-El raises several state law claims.
1 Due Process - Tax Obligation

Plaintiff first provides that prison officialhave been unlawfully taking funds out of
his prison account for an unsubstantiated tdigation of $350.45. Plaintiff Ward-El's claim is
barred by the doctrine éfarratt v. Taylor 451 U.S. 527 (1981hverruledin part by Daniels v.
Williams, 474 U.S. 327 (1986). UndParratt, a person deprived of property by a “random and
unauthorized act” of a state empé®has no federal due process clantess the state fails to afford
an adequate post-deprivation remedy. If an adequate post-deprivation remedy exists, the
deprivation, although real, is notithout due process of law.Parratt, 451 U.S. at 537. This rule
applies to both negligent and intentional degroraof property, as long as the deprivation was not
done pursuant to an established state procedseeHudson v. Palmer468 U.S. 517, 530-36
(1984). Because Plaintiff Ward-&claim is premised upon allegedly unauthorized acts of a state
official, he must plead and prove the ingdacy of state post-deprivation remedi8seCopeland
v. Machulis 57 F.3d 476, 479-80 (6th Cir. 1998)ibbs v. Hopkins10 F.3d 373, 378 (6th Cir.
1993). Under settled Sixth Circuit authority, a prisoner’s failure to sustain this burden requires

dismissal of his 8 1983 due-process actiBeeBrooks v. Dutton751 F.2d 197 (6th Cir. 1985).

Plaintiff Ward-El has not sustained his burdie this case. Plaintiff Ward-El has not

alleged that state post-deprivation remedies are inadequate. Moreover, numerous state post-
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deprivation remedies are available to him. Fagitisoner who incurslass through no fault of his

own may petition the institution’s Prisarigenefit Fund for compensation.idH. DEP T OFCORR,,

Policy Directive 04.07.112, § B (effective Dec. 12, 2013). Aggrieved prisoners may also submit
claims for property loss of less than $1,000 to the State Administrative Boazd. GdmP. LAWS

§ 600.6419; MDOC Policy Directive 03.02.131 (effeetct. 21, 2013). Alternatively, Michigan

law authorizes actions in the Court of Claims agsgtort or contract claims “against the state and
any of its departments, commissions, boartgijtutions, arms, or agencies.” |&#. COMP. LAWS

§ 600.6419(1)(a). The Sixth Circuit specifically has held that Michigan provides adequate post-
deprivation remedies for deprivation of proper8eeCopeland57 F.3d at 480. Plaintiff Ward-El
does not allege any reason why a state-courragiould not afford him complete relief for the
deprivation, either negligent or intentionalhes personal property. Accordingly, Plaintiff Ward-El
fails to state a due process claim against Def@n@eoenhof for the payment of the tax obligation

from his prison trust account.
2. First & Eighth Amendments - Filing fees

Plaintiff Ward-El complains that aeast 50% of his prison wages are used for

unsuccessful filing fees, which chills his right to sue prison officials.

The PLRA has provisions that prevessassments from being so burdensome that
they would stop a prisoner from being able te@rsuit. Moreover, the Sixth Circuit has held that
“prisoners asserting civil claims in federal court have never been guaranteed a ‘freéiadepton
v. Hobbs106 F.3d 1281, 1285 (6th Cir. 1997). Filing fees are collected through monthly payments
equal to 20 percent of the prisoner’'s income aitl. 28 U.S.C. § 1916)(2). No payment is

required if the prisoner’'s monthly income is less than $10dfsee als®8 U.S.C. § 1915 (b)(4)
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(prisoner can file suit even if he has no assets atdipton 106 F.3d at 1284 -85 (finding the

fee provisions of the PLRA did neiolate a prisoner’s constitutional right of access to the courts,

the Due Process Clause, the Equal Protection Clause or the Double Jeopardy Clause.) Under the
PLRA, a prisoner must pay tffigll amount of the $350.00 filing fee. 28 U.S.C. § 1915(b)(1). In
addition to this case, Plaintiff Ward-El is paying fifiag fee in at least five other civil rights cases.
Plaintiff Ward-El may also have filing fees or otltebt arising from cases filed in other courts.
Congress did not carve out an exception for paymwigiees and costs by a prisoner who files more

than one lawsuit. As the Seventh Circuit has stated:

[W]e hold that the fees fdiling the complaint and appeal cumulate. Otherwise a
prisoner could file multiple suits for tipeice of one, postponimqmayment of the fees

for later-filed suits until after the end of imprisonment (and likely avoiding them
altogether). The PLRA is designed to require the prisoner to bear some marginal
cost for each legal activity. Unless payrieegins soon after the event that creates

the liability, this will not happen. A prisonerho files one suit remits 20 percent of
income to his prison trust account; a sai an appeal then must commit 40 percent,
and so on. Five suits or appeals mean that the prisoner’s entire monthly income must
be turned over to the court until the fees have been paid -- though by then a prisoner
is likely to have three strikes and to owe all future filing fees in full, in advance.

Newlin v. Helman123 F.3d 429, 436 (7th Cir. 1997). Tl@surt adopts the reasoning of the
Seventh Circuit. Moreover, itis Plaintiff Ward-El who has chosen to bring several lawsuits, and by

so doing, he is responsible for the appropriate fees and costs in each one.

Because Plaintiff Ward-El only has $10 lefthis account, he complains that he
cannot buy over-the-counter medications, typing paggbon paper, copies for legal documents,

personal hair care items, personal skin care items and dental items.

‘See Ward v. Marietti et alCase No. 1:15-cv-295 (W.D. MichW\ard v. Campbell et glCase No. 2:15-cv-37
(W.D. Mich.);Ward v. Campbell et alGase No. 2:15-cv-27 (W.D. MichWWard v. Kafczynski et alCase No. 2:14-cv-
96 (W.D. Mich.); Ward v. Dunklow et alCase No. 1:13-cv-304 (W.D. Mich.).
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To the extent Plaintiff Ward-El allegesatthe cannot buy typing paper, carbon paper
and copies of legal documents, Plaintiff raisea@ess-to-the-courts claim. It is well established
that prisoners have a constitutional right of access to the c8atsds v. Smif130 U.S. 817, 821
(1977). The principal issue Boundswas whether the states musttelct the right of access to the
courts by providing law libraries or alternats@urces of legal information for prisonerd. at 817.

The Court further noted that in addition to lawrdibes or alternative sources of legal knowledge,
the states must provide indigent inmates withpggr and pen to draft legal documents, notarial
services to authenticate themgdawith stamps to mail themId. at 824-25. The right of access to

the courts also prohibits prison officials from erecting barriers that may impede the inmate’s

accessibility to the courtsSee Knop v. Johnsp@77 F.2d 996, 1009 (6th Cir. 1992).

An indigent prisoner’s constitutional right to legal resources and materials is not,
however, without limit. In order tstate a viable claim for interference with his access to the courts,
a plaintiff must show “actual injury.Lewis v. Case\p18 U.S. 343, 349 (1996&ge alsd alley-Bey
v. Kneb] 168 F.3d 884, 886 (6th Cir. 199®nop, 977 F.2d at 1000. In other words, a plaintiff
must plead and demonstrate that the shortconniniye prison legal assistance program or lack of
legal materials have hindered, or are presdmitigiering, his efforts tpursue a nonfrivolous legal
claim. Lewis 518 U.S. at 351-53ee alsdilgrim v. Littlefield 92 F.3d 413, 416 (6th Cir. 1996).

The Supreme Court has strictly limited the types of cases for which there may be an actual injury:

Boundsdoes not guarantee inmates the wherewithal to transform themselves into
litigating engines capable of filing everytigi from shareholder derivative actions to
slip-and-fall claims. The tools it requireshie provided are those that the inmates
need in order to attack their sentenadisectly or collaterally, and in order to
challenge the conditions of their confinement. Impairment of any other litigating
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capacity is simply one of the incidental (and perfectly constitutional) consequences
of conviction and incarceration.

Lewis 518 U.S. at 355. “Thus, a prisoner’s right to access the courts extends to direct appeals,
habeas corpus applications, and civil rights claims onlyhaddeus-X v. Blattet 75 F.3d 378, 391

(6th Cir. 1999) (en banc). Moreover, the umglag action must have asserted a non-frivolous
claim. Lewis 518 U.S. at 353ccordHadix v. Johnsonl82 F.3d 400, 405 (6th Cir. 199%e(wis

changed actual injury to include requirement that action be non-frivolous).

In addition, the Supreme Court squarely has held that “the underlying cause of
action . . . is an element that must be describéiderromplaint, just as much as allegations must
describe the official acts frustrating the litigationChristopher v. Harbury536 U.S. 403, 415
(2002) (citingLewis 518 U.S. at 353 & n.3). “Like any other element of an access claim, the
underlying cause of action and its lost remedy must be addressed by allegations in the complaint

sufficient to give fair notice to a defendantd. at 416.

Plaintiff Ward-EIl does not allege that baffered an actual injury to any pending or
contemplated litigation. Consequently, Plaintiff Waidfails to state a claim for a violation of his

First Amendment right of access to the courts.

Plaintiff Ward-El also contends that without money in his prison account, he was
unable to purchase over-the-counter medicationtant for proper hygiene from the prison store,
such as skin care products, hair care products and dental items. The Eighth Amendment imposes
a constitutional limitation on the power of thetsts to punish thoseonvicted of crimes.
Punishment may not be “barbarous” nor meygontravene society’s “evolving standards of

decency.”’Rhodes v. Chapma#a52 U.S. 337, 345-46 (1981). The Amendment, therefore, prohibits
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conduct by prison officials that involves thenhecessary and wanton infliction of pairivey v.
Wilson 832 F.2d 950, 954 (6th Cir. 1987) (per curiam) (quohgdes452 U.S. at 346). The
deprivation alleged must result in the denial eftminimal civilized measure of life’'s necessities.”
Rhodes452 U.S. at 347%ee alsdNilson v. Yaklich148 F.3d 596, 600-01 (6th Cir. 1998). The
Eighth Amendment is only concerned with “deptions of essential food, medical care, or
sanitation” or “other conditions falerable for prison confinement.Rhodes452 U.S. at 348
(citation omitted). Moreover, “[n]ot every umgasant experience a prisoner might endure while
incarcerated constitutes cruel and unusual punishment within the meaning of the Eighth

Amendment.” lvey, 832 F.2d at 954.

In order for a prisoner to prevail on an Eighth Amendment claim, he must show that
he faced a sufficiently serious rikhis health or safety and that the defendant official acted with
“deliberate indifference’ to [his] health or safety.Mingus v. Butler591 F.3d 474, 479-80 (6th
Cir. 2010) (citingFarmer v. Brennan511 U.S. 825, 834 (1994) (applgi deliberate indifference
standard to medical claims3ge also Helling v. McKinneyp09 U.S. 25, 35 (1993) (applying

deliberate indifference standard to conditions of confinement claims)).

Plaintiff does not allege that he has bdeprived of basic hygiene supplies, such as
soap, toothpaste and toilet papebee Flanory v. Bonn604 F.3d 249, 254 (6th Cir. 2010)
(discussing cases involving the deprivation of hygigems). Moreover, Plaintiff does not allege
that he suffered any adverse health effects oemdrdiscomfort due to the absence of those items.
SeeArgue v. HofmeyeBO F. App’x at 427, 430 (6th Cir. 200@)olding that a prisoner had failed
to state an Eighth Amendment claim becausedheatiallege a complete denial of hygiene products

or that he “suffered extreme discomfort” as a result of the deMal)re v. Chavez36 F. App’x
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169, 171 (6th Cir. 2002) (finding that the plainti&d failed to allege that “he suffered extreme
discomfort due to his inability to purchase the items or that he was completely denied the basic
elements of hygiene”). Because the deniaknh care products, hair care products, dental items
and over-the-counter medication did not rise tol¢vel of a serious risk to Plaintiff Ward-EI's

health or safety, Plaintiff Ward-Elifa to state an Eighth Amendment claim.
3. Equal Protection Clause - Filing Fees

Plaintiff Ward-El claims that a court’s order to pay the filing fee under the PLRA
violates the United Stat&ipreme Court’s holding dames v. Strangd07 U.S. 128 (1972), and,
therefore, the Equal Protection Clause. Jamesdecision is wholly inpplicable to Plaintiff's
claim. TheJamesCourt dealt with a Kansas recoupmeatwie for court-appointed attorney fees.

In Jamesthe Supreme Court found unconstitutional a lesnmecoupment statute that permitted the
state to recoup court-appointed attorney feisomut permitting the defendant to raise any of the
defenses permitted to other civil judgments. Most importantly, the recoupment provision did not
permit the defendant to defend the execution of the recoupment based on his inabilitylth pay.
at 135-36. As a consequence, the Court foundhikdfansas statute violated the Equal Protection

Clause.ld. at 141-42.

Unlike the Kansas statute, the PLRA daesprovide for the recoupment of court-
appointed attorney fees. It provides for an instafibplan for filing fees igivil actions. The Sixth
Circuit specifically has held that the PLRA do®t violate the Equal Protection Clausdampton

106 F.3d at 1284-85. Accordingly, Plaintiff Ward{&ils to state an equal protection claim.
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4.  15U.SC.§1673(a)

Plaintiff Ward-El complains that DefendiaGroenhof violated the garnishment
provisions of the Consumer Credit Protection A8everal courts have held that the Consumer
Credit Protection Act does not provifie a private cause of actio@olvert v. Roling233 F. App’x
587 (8th Cir. 2007) (a private right of action do®t exist under Consumer Credit Protection Act
section governing restrictions on garnishment of wagesyick v. Skaggs Co§01 F.2d 777 (9th
Cir. 1983);Snapp v. U.S. Postal Serg64 F.2d 1329 (5th Cir. 198 NtcCabe v. Eurek&664 F.2d
680 (8th Cir. 1981)Agg v. Flanagan855 F.2d 336 (6th Cir. 1988) (opining in dissent that there is
no implied private cause of action for damagssilteng from violation oktatute setting maximum
limit upon amount of wages which can be garrnistnieder the Consumer Credit Protection Act, 15
U.S.C. 8§ 1673);. The foregoing courts have also notledt § 1676 provides that “the Secretary
of Labor . . . shall enforce provisions of this Subchaptée™Vick 701 F.2d at 779 (quoting 15
U.S.C. 8§ 1676). As there is no implied privaght of action under the garnishment provisions of
the Consumer Credit Protection Act, the Cowitt dismiss Plaintiff Ward-El's claim under 15

U.S.C. 8 1676.
5. State L aw

As previously discussed, to the extent Plaintiff Ward-El seeks relief against
Defendant Groenhof for violations of MDOC Polibyrectives, Michigan statutes and rules, and
state law on garnishment and receivorship, PfaWward-El fails to state a claim under 8§ 1983. The
Court also declines to exercise supplementadiction over Plaintiff Ward-El's state-law claims

against Defendant Groenhof.

-23 -



C. Defendant Thompson

Plaintiff Ward-El argues that MTF Bendant Thompson violated his First
Amendment right to access the courts by failingajayca policy directive that Plaintiff needed for
his civil rights actionWard v. LuckeyNo. 2:12-cv-14875 (E.D. Mich. Oct. 11, 2013). Plaintiff
Ward-El also argues that Defendant Thoampgiolated MDOC Policy Directive 05.03.116, 1 K,
L, MDOC Policy Directive 03.02.130, the Michigan Constitution, 18 U.S.C. § 242, 18 U.S.C. §
1509 and 18 U.S.C. § 134@®laintiff Ward-El further states & Defendant Thompson violated his
due process rights and equal protection righisdenying Plaintiff [Wadl-EI] access to the law
library MDOC Policy Directive 05.03.116 Prisoners’ Ass¢o the Courts Section (K)(L).” (2d Am.

Compl., docket #27, Page ID#340.)
1. Accesstothe Courts

Plaintiff Ward-El argues that Defendaffhtompson violated his First Amendment
right to access the courts by failing to provide lwith a copy of a policy directive for a pending
civil rights case. As a previously stated, it is clearly established that prisoners have a
constitutionally protected right of access to therts, and reasonable access to the law libiSeg
Bounds 430 U.S. at 821. For a First Amendmentmlaa plaintiff must show actual injury to
pending or contemplated litigatioBee Lewiss18 U.S. at 349 alley-Bey 168 F.3d at 88d<nop,
977 F.2d at 1000. In addition, a piaif must describe the underlying cause of action and its lost

remedy in his complaintChristopher 536 U.S. at 415-416 (citation omitted).

Plaintiff Ward-El alleges that Defendahhompson prevented him from copying a

policy directive to provide as an exhibit in a pending civil rights d&sed v. LuckeyNo. 2:12-cv-
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14875 (E.D. Mich. Oct. 11, 2013)Plaintiff Ward-El, however, desmot allege how his civil rights
action was injured by failing to provide the exhil8ee Lewiss18 U.S. at 349. Moreover, Plaintiff
Ward-El did not describe the underlying cause of action and its lost remedy in the pendisgease.
Christopher 536 U.S. at 415-16. Plaintiff Ward-El tleéore fails to state a First Amendment

access-to-the-courts claim against Defendant Thompson.
2. Due Process & Equal Protection Clauses- Law Library

Plaintiff Ward-El claims that Defendamthompson violated his due process rights
and equal protection rights by dengiPlaintiff Ward-El access togHaw library to obtain a copy

of a MDOC policy directive.

The Fourteenth Amendment protects individdeom being deprived of life, liberty
or property without due process of law. UC®NST. AMEND. XIV. The elements of a procedural
due process claim are: (1) a life, liberty,pvoperty interest requiring protection under the Due
Process Clause, and (2) a deprivation ofititatest (3) without adequate proce¥éomen’s Med.
Prof’l Corp. v. Baird 438 F.3d 595, 611 (6th Cir. 2006). “Withauprotected liberty or property
interest, there can be no federal procedural due process clgxpé&rimental Holdings, Inc. v.
Farris, 503 F.3d 514, 519 (6th Cir. 2007) (citiBd. of Regents of State Colleges v. R&0I8 U.S.
564, 579 (1972)). Plaintiff Ward-El does not haveapprty or liberty interest in access to the law
library. See Jordan v. LogaB2 F. App’'x 958, 958 (9th Cir. 2002 olding that the plaintiff did
not have a property or liberty interest in access to the libr@ar)pck v. OsbornelNo. 4:14CV-

P14-M, 2014 WL 2218211, at *4 (W. D. Ky. May 28, 20{4)Iding that the plaintiff failed to state

5The Court notes that the district codigmissed Plaintiff Ward-El's action Ward v. LuckeyNo. 2:12-cv-
14875, Ordek J., docket ##27, 28 (E.D. Mich. Oct. 11, 2013)hwitt prejudice so Plaintiff Ward-El may file the
action again.
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a due process claim because there is no conshiily protected right of access to a law library);
Howard v. OsbornelNo. 4:13CV-P129-M, 2014 WL 149124&t *2 (W.D. Ky. Apr. 15, 2014)
(holding that the lack of access to legal matenial law library does not state a due process claim)
(citing Bradley v. Mason833 F.Supp.2d 763, 773 (N.D. Ohio 2011) (“[T]he lack of a law library
does not per se deny the accused [of] due proce¥®githout a property or liberty interest, Plaintiff

Ward-El fails to state a due process claim for access to the law library.

Plaintiff Ward-El also raises an equabtection claim because he was denied access
to the law library. The Equal Protection Clagsenmands that no state shall “deny to any person
within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.” UCBNST. amend. XIV, 8 1. A state
practice generally will not require strict scrutiny unless it interferes with a fundamental right or
discriminates against a suspect class of individldésss. Bd. of Ret. v. Murgid27 U.S. 307, 312
(1976). Plaintiff Ward-El does not suggest thatsh@ member of a suspect class, and “prisoners
are not considered a suspect clasptoposes of equal protection litigatioddckson v. Jamrog,

411 F.3d 615, 619 (6th Cir. 2005ge also Wilson v. Yaklich48 F.3d 596, 604 {6 Cir.1998).

A fundamental right is one that is explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the Constitum.
Antonio Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Rodrigud41 U.S. 1, 33 (1973). The righitaccess to the courts is

a fundamental right protected by the constitutibewis 518 U.S. at 350/Vard v. Dyke58 F.3d

271, 275 (6th Cir. 1995). The right of access tacth#ts has never been equated with the access
of legal materials at the prison librargee Walker v. Mintzeg71 F.2d 920, 932 (6th Cir. 1985);
seealsoLewis 518 U.S. at 351 (a sub-par library or legal assistance program does not establish
relevant actual injury). Because Plaintiff ¥leEl's claim for access to the law library is not

guaranteed by the Constitution, it is not a fundamental right.
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As neither a fundamental right nor a suspeass is at issue, Plaintiff Ward-El's
claim is reviewed under the rational basis standattib Italia Soccer & Sports Org., Inc. v.
Charter Twp. of Shelby70 F.3d 286, 298 (6th Cir. 2006). “Under rational basis scrutiny,
government action amounts to a constitutional viotatinly if it ‘is so unrelated to the achievement
of any combination of legitimate purposes tthet court can only conclude that the government’s
actions were irrational.”ld. (quotingWarren v. City of Atheng,11 F.3d 697, 710 (6th Cir. 2005)).
To prove his equal protection atai Plaintiff Ward-El must demotraite “intentional and arbitrary
discrimination” by the state; that is, he must destrate that he “has been intentionally treated
differently from others similarly situated andathlthere is no rational basis for the difference in

treatment.” Vill. of Willowbrook v. Olech528 U.S. 562, 564 (2000).

Plaintiff Ward El's equal protectiodlaim is wholly conclusory. Undegbal, 556
U.S. at 678-69, anfiwombly 550 U.S. at 555, conclusory ahgions of unconstitutional conduct
without specific factual allegatiorfail to state a claim under § 198Blaintiff Ward-EIl does not
attempt to identify any other prisoner who is simiylaituated, much less that he was intentionally
treated differently See Vill. of Willowbrooks28 U.S. at 564. Accordingly, Plaintiff Ward-El fails

to state an equal protection claim for access to the law library.
3. Federal criminal statutes

Plaintiff Ward-El alleges that Defendarttompson has violated 18 U.S.C. § 242, 18
U.S.C. § 1509 and 18 U.S.C. § 1346. As the Quuaiously discussed, there is no private right
of action for 18 U.S.C. § 242. Likewise, theraasprivate cause of action for unlawful obstruction
of justice, 18 U.S.C. § 150%ee, e.g., Hamilton v. Re2b F. App’x 202, 204 (6th Cir. 2002)

(“Hamilton possesses no private rigtitaction against the defendarfior alleged violations of 18
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U.S.C. 88 1505, 1506, and 1509.”). Rather, the UrStatks Attorney can enforce those statutes
by criminal prosecution. Finally, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1346 is the citation for the definition of “scheme or
artifice to defraud.” Becausestjust a definition, Plaintiff Ward-EI cannot bring a claim under this
statute. Accordingly, Plaintiff Ward-El fail® state a claim under 18 U.S.C. § 242, 18 U.S.C.

§ 1509 and 18 U.S.C. § 1346 against Defendant Thompson.

4. State Law

Plaintiff Ward-El alleges that Defendant Thompson violated MDOC Policy
Directives and Michigan statutes. As previoudiBcussed, Plaintiff WardiHails to state a claim
under § 1983 for state-law claimis¢luding violations of MDOC Policy Directives and Michigan
statutes. The Court also declines to exersiggplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff Ward-El's

state-law claims against Defendant Thompson.
D. Motion for Summary Judgment

Because this Court is dismissing Plaintiffsian for failure to state a claim, Plaintiff

Ward-EI's motion for summary judgment (docket #39) will be denied as moot.
Conclusion

Having conducted the review required byRBmison Litigation Reform Act, the Court
determines that Plaintiffs’ action against MDefendants Kitchen, Groenhof and Thompson will
be dismissed for failure to state a claim parguo 28 U.S.C. 88 1915(¢e)(2) and 1915A(b), and 42

U.S.C. § 1997e(c). The Court also determitineg Plaintiffs’ action against STF Defendants

- 28 -



Daniels, Shaheen, Sorenson, Betts and Benilétiexdismissed without prejudice under Federal

Rule of Civil Procedure 21 for misjoinder.

The Court must next decide whether ppeal of this action would be in good faith
within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1915(a)(®eeMcGore v. Wrigglesworthl14 F.3d 601, 611
(6th Cir. 1997). For the same reasons that the Court dismisses the action, the Court discerns no
good-faith basis for an appeal. Should Plaintiffs appeal this decision, the Court will assess the
$505.00 appellate filing fee pursuant to 8 1915(bx&gMcGore 114 F.3d at 610-11, unless
Plaintiffs are barred from proceeding forma pauperise.g., by the “three-strikes” rule of §

1915(g). Ifthey are barred, they will be reqdite pay the $505.00 appellate filing fee in one lump

sum.

This is a dismissal as described by 28 U.S.C. § 1915(g).

A Judgment and Order consistent with this Opinion will be entered.
Dated:_June 29, 2015 /sl Janet T. Neff

Janet T. Neff
United States District Judge
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